CHAPTAR IV

The invasion of the Davao area in iindanzo u few days before
Christmas had apparently ccught General Vachon short of ammnition
also, (although he did, at least, have a few 2.95 mountain puns

for his artillery regiment) for General Chynoweth now reoceived or-

. ders to ship to Vachon half of the rifle amwunition and all of the

artillery ammunition on Panay. Having no artillery pieces, and
only the falintest hope of ever getting any from the sunken steamer,
the loss of this ammunition was not too important, but to part with
oven half of our meagre supply of rifle amnunition wus a wrench.
However, at the moment, Vachon needod it worse than we did, so off
it wont (except for the 1500 rounds of artillery am:unition in the
61st Field Artillory magazines, whioh wu3 ovorlooked) with our fer-
vent prayers for its safe arrival. This time our prayers were ans-
wered.

For some time past, &ll of us on Panay.had recognized the im-
possibility of defending the becaches in the event of a major enemy
invasion, as called for in the original War Plan, and preparations
were under way, without official sanction from .lanila, to emable us
to make a sustained stand in the mountain masses, to whioh we plan-
ned to retire after as prolon-ed a delajing action as possible.

On Christmas Day, General Chynoweth received two messnges --
one from his family congratulating him on his promotion to briza-

dier-general, which he had received on 19 Decembser -- and the other
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from Genoral Sharp ocontaining coples of instructions from Gen-
eral Nacirthur. This message from General ijacArthur was our
first knowledge (other than radio reports, which had been con-
sistently optimistic) of the trend of events on Lugone laoAr-
thur stated, in effeot, that his troops were fighting with their
backs to the wall, and direoted that if we were cut of f from
contaot with Headquarters on Luzon we should continue to keep a
locus of American-Filipino resistance on each island.

This was more depressing news, of course, yet we wore rlad
to know that ifacArthur realized the impossibility of carrying
out the original War Plans, and it gave the stamp of his approv-
al to the practicabie solution which General Chynoweth had al-
ready formulated.

The mountain area of Fanay, which for the most part is
extremely rupred, had been divided into regimental sectors.

The movement of food and supplies back into these mountains
was now intensified. “Eﬁgg_égf, the slogan ocoined by Lt. Col.
Fitzpatrick, commnanding the 63rd Infantry, became the.whip.

"Baus Au"--the Filipino phrase meaning "Get it backi" It char-

acterized the project, which became known as "Operation Caus Au".
A1l units were engared in this operation in their own pre-
seribed zone of action. The 613t Field Artillery was no excep-
tion. The food and susplies beins carried up into the mountains
would bo sezurely hidden in smnll caches scattered over wide

arcas, to furnish the sinews of maintenance for the nucleii of
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Anerican military resistance, as acarthar had direstad. Given
sufficient bases of this kind wo wéuld be anabled to sustain
cuerrilla operations almost indefinitely, even in the event cf
a ralor Japanese occupation of the Island.

This packing in of suprlies was gruslling work, since these
treils are passable only on foot-—und I use tne word "passable"
loosely! I have seen, and clambersd over, places along those
rock walls that would scure tie horas off a mountain -oat. TYet
those tiny Filipinos planted their bare feet with preaensile
toes, on the narrow ledres and never missed a stepe

The civilian populace was quite uneasy over our change to
these guerrilla tactics. ';any of them never did understand the
reasons for our planned withdrawal into the mountains. They
took gfeat pride in their Army, and having been indoctrinated
for years with the ides of Amsrican invineibility, were all for

falling on the enemy tooth aund nail end hurling nim back into

‘the sea. Which was a fine idea -- we'd have liked nothiag bat-

ter. But with our paucity of ejquipmont and trained sersonuel
even to have attempted such action would have served no purpose
and could have resulted only in the mass butchery of our troopse.
When and if we were forcod tack into the hills by Jap in-
vasion, our troop strongth was to be cut down frbm ragimen£s and
tattalions to small Lands of stalwurts. These fcw were to be
picked for their physical stamina, their ocourage, their loyalty,

and general soldierly aptitudo. The others were to be discharged
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whon we reachsd the footiils. ® They would tura in &ll arms, awouni-
tion and eguipment issued to trnei and return to civil life. JCaches
for this eguipment had been selocted snd preparcd. Only tnose who
had been chosen as the evzntual "Bobin-i;oodors" were employed in
moving supplies into the mountein areas. WNo vinhers were o know
the whoreabouts of the sup ly cac.aes, since the lives and elflcct-
{veness of such a band must depend upon indivilaal and collective
secreoy and loyalty.

tountain fastnesses were being reconucitred and the sealected
troops being intensively trained in guerrilla tacticse. It was
vital that every officer and soldier should know evsry traill,
every stream and barrio like the palm of his hand. e must be
capable of striking with fury und vanishing intc thin air.

Lowis end I alternated, usually, in sapervising "Zaus Au".
On 31 December he had besen left at Catatuan to kec)p up the im-
potus of rapgular tralnine activitises. whea 1 cune in about dark,
pretty well fagied out, hs poursd me a stiff drink of Scotche. e
were still able to get an occusional bottle at this stuge of the
rame. He seemed to be 1in particularly good apirits. His morale
was always way up, but I could tell hLe had sone sort of rcvela-
tion to make, so I said, "Oat with it, Buckl”

lle pulled a serlous exgression over his infectious yrine
"Colonel Tark, %ald and 1 ran across some real G-2 today. %e've
talked it over and we'vc dccided that you haven't taken ore bit

of time away from your coiaanl since this thing beran. We kinde
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_ think you're due for a little entertainment”.

"met's G=2 got to do with time off and entertainment?® I
questioned.

"Wo figursd you're ontitled to a little recreation -- maybe
you wouldn't be 8uch a damed grouch if you'd do a little carousin'®,
he rrinned.

*Buck, you're a reprobate. What are you driving at? Come on,
now == spill it — that's a comnandi” I replied. "But wnit before
you pull the lanyard -- snother saull dividsat so I can take the
shacklstundingx"

It wus plainly apparoat tiiut they had concooted soue sort of
w lark. I took a sip from sy replenished glass. "Now, you'd bet-
ter let wald telk. lie seeas Lo want to get to the point".

"It's just this", Wald said. "de've got a rcliable tip on
a damn' swall cabaret in full swinug behind blackout curtains down
in Iloiio“.

"That's.fine", I retorted. "You two o ahead on down. You're
all slicked up and polishode And besidus, there'll be no more than
two of the five Americans sway from this post toaight.”

®nut wait a minute", iewis broke in. "If the Colonel doesn;t
£0, no one v00§ -=- you nscd ity"

;Nutsl Buck, T'm tir:d and dirty, und besides, i'd botter
stick arouni.”

"uothin! doin'®, he obiccted. "we've decided you're roinge

50 riow on with your bath wia ' vourseli pretty for tae galse



“Everything's quiet and under control. Prioce, ¥ald and I'urphy
will stay. I'm going with you, so cet on your horse".

The upshot of it was thut I went. It was too enticing tp
misse Buck and I drﬁve down to Ilo through the starlit night
on the first non-officiﬂl venture sinca the Japs ruptured tne
peace of the Orient. I felt uneasy about leaving the sommand,
and I knew 3uck wasn't too somfortable, either, but his uaually
obullient spirits dominated the situation and s¢ wers soon en-
gagod in en intensive search fcr the blacksd-out cabaret.

we wors not over-familiar witn Iloilo, but after scono
cruisinz about discov:red a knct of Lecople loufing in frent of
a rather preteasious-locking establishment, end upon inguiry,
discovered that we had arrived.

We were greeted cordialiy by the managsument sni led across
the huge, dialy-1it room to a uulcoay, wiere we were 3uiatud atb
a table imnsdiately overlookin~ the dunce floore.

The orchestrs was rood -- or at least it seemed so0 -- and
the rracefully moving couples were e relief to eyes accustomsd
to exploring mountain trails and suervising tho training aotive
1ties of soldierse.

»e were alrost izrediatcly ‘ecincu by two of the dancing-
girls. In the subdued li-ht tioy appuoered extromely well-drsssed
and guite attractive. AL loust tiey were gsay, and anused us over
rathor »nild driais with a ¢ic 2. scacr and chit-chate Iven today

the racollections of Lhose Low _codacs o1 Zivapsion are viry



pleasant —- the musio, the girls and the decore. It was the last
;xperienoo of this sort for more than four yearse.

Suddenly Buck grabbed my arm. "1 ooki® was all he salde

1 followed the direction of his gaze and saw a determined
Captain Wald, and the manager pointing in the direction of our

table.

"that's wald," I said in surprise. "What the hell is he
doing here1"™

"Something 's happened”, Lewis exploded, and stood up.

Wald oame directly to the table. "What's up, Wald?" I
asked.

"wouldn't you know", he replied, "that things always break
whon you leas£ expect them. Division called with instructions
for you to report to General Chynoweth imnediately. I told him
that you were not in and I didn't know how to reach you. They
said to find you and tell you it was urgent. Sorryl"

That was the end of the recreation. We settled the check
and left the nizht-spot. -

“I'm going with you", Tuck said. I took it for granted
and we set out for Lambunao, sone sixty ¥ilometers in the moun-
tains, ﬁorth of Iloilo.

Nevor having visited the Division Cemmand Post in this new
location, it took considerable inguiry " .forc intelligible direo-
tions could be elicited from sleepy Filipino soldiers. The Div-~

{sion Comnand Post "at Lambunao" was .ot actually at Lambunao,
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but in a wooded area some little distance to the southwest of

fambunao barrio. Also it was soue little distance from the

W AN e

main Iloilo-Lambunao road, requiring the use of about three
miles of so-called secondary roade This, as it neared the
ioommand post, became very definitely seoondary, considering the
faot that there were only two clagses of roads rated higher than
the foot-trail.

At the end of the secondary road a narrow foot=-trail cut
through a heavy jungle, and wound its way into the inner sanc-
tum that was known as the command post. Other narrow paths tun-
neled through the same type of vegetation to the verious staff
sootions and to sleeping quarters. 1 recall particularly being
reminded, as we followed a puide with a flash-light through
these Styglan labyrinths, of Thesous and the iiinotaur, and wish-
ed that I, too, had a striny tied to the entrancel

I romember thinkin: also that tho location of the Lambunao
Command Post was a hell of a place. lLowever, jt served the pur-
pose for which General Chynoweth intended it -- it discouraged
visitors. And it definitely discourujed frequent visitors, mo=-
tivated by curiosity or by minor political considerations. Ao-
cess to this location was too difricult to negotiaté except for
grave and important business. Durin; the periods when the Divi-
sion Command Post was located at Pavia and Santa Barbara, General
Chynoweth and his staif had been overwhelmed with visitors, most

of whom had no real reuson for their call sxcept that parking
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facilities were somewhat convenient.

It was now about 2330 A as Lewis and I waited outside the
Chief of Staff's nipa "sleeping bLower™ while our guide went in
to awaken Christie. The dim 1li:zht of a candle plimmered through
the nipa fronds, and Christie called to us to como ine. FKe slipped
on his shoes, and we.followod him to General Chynoweth's quarters.
Christie went in and awakened himn.

The Genorsl was not lonz in cominz to the point. "Tarkington,
I have bud news. At least it is bad news for me". He then pro-
ceecded to read to me a letter from General Sharp which in substance
detaohed the 6lst Field Artillery from the €lst Division and ord-
ered it to Mindaunao. The letter did not divulge the mission of
the Glst in Mindanao, but did prescribe tnat the regiment would
embark at Iloilo at dark on 1 January 1942, and proceed to Pula-
panden, Negros, thence by motor transportation to Dumaguete, where
it would await a ocourier from Visayan-lindanao Foroe lleadquarters
with further instructions.

Both Lowis and 1 were rroatly disappointed in being detached
from General Chynoweth, whom we had learned to admire for his di-
rect methods, his keen tactical sense and organizational ability.
We told him so and we meant it, as we said our regretful rood=byes.

The Goneral complinmented the regiment on its progresé towards
readiness for combat and seemed renuinely concerned that his Divi-
sion was being deprived of its best-trained units. The 6lst Infan-

try, under comnmand of Colonel Eugene ditchell, had already received
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its orders, and was to sail for Yiadanao 2 January. Lt. Col.
Allen Thayer's 622d Infuntry would leave Panay on or about 5
Jasuary, also for lindanaoe.

These three regiments, while "brand new" were, in point
of service and tralning, vetsrans in compuarison to the one
infantry regiment left to Chymoweth -- the ink barely dry on
ita mobilization orders. This infant regiment and a battalion
of engineers comprised the only combat troops left on Panaye.
Their combat efficlency cculd be measured by their less than
30 rounds of ammunition per rifle, and half s dozen machine
gunsg, with a limited sup ly of am-unition. NKNothing else. No
mortars. No istols. Very fow bayonets. o uniforms at all. Yo
entrenching tools. Almost no shoes.

As Lewis and I drove Lack to canp discussing these things
6 most apropos phrase from a silly little verse stuck in my
mind ~- "No shoes for e toes =-- No hanky for he nose. Poor
liftlo fly on the walliy™

Ve remembered also an Associated Press dispatch we had
geen in one of the papers before leavin; the States, which
quoted General George C. “arshall, then Chief of Staff, as
having told a Congressicnal Cormittes in September, 1941, that
the Philippines were yetting "No. 1" priority on arms, presum-
ably on airoraft as well as other wea,ons. uell, naybe so.
Maybe the arms and the aircrult were like our mail, which was

sent tut never arrived. “ut the Battling lastards on Bataan



weren't the only ones who felt that they had no ﬁncle Sam those
days!

Just before daybreak we arrived at our own cormand poste.
There remainsd about fourteen hours before our scheduled sail;
ing time. Much was to be done prior to the movement of the
first echelons at 1l Al Regimental staff and battalion com-
panders were assembled and preparations begun for our departure
from Cabatuan.

The first elements of the 61lst Field Artillery arrived at
Santa Barbara about noon of Hew Year's Day, 1942, from which
point we were to go by train to Iloiloe Durinz the afternoon
the Division Finance QOfflcer a peared bearin; with him a graln
gack full of pesos, for tho re;imont's expenses. Ten thousand
pesos, mostly in bills of small denomination, as this was, is
a bulky item. The repimont 21ad no safe -- not even a finance
officer. EDut we necded rocd. leeded it now and would need it
more on the trip. .e had teen cn half-rationa aand less for some
time, and were {oing into an uncertain situation in liindanaoe.

1 callod my Amcricsn officers ani a few salocted Filipino
officers togotrer and explained the situation. The mouey wus
divided into equal amounts und stuffed into pockets, musette
bags and into the fronts of our shirts until we had more the
appearance of a group of portly dowagers t.an military {'igures.
In the short tine ressining before our train was due the sur-

rounding countrysids was scoured for pt_ay (unsusked rice) and



othor non-perishable foodstuffs to aurment the travel ration of
the regiment. (Later, in Mindanao, evary centavo of this fund
was accurately accounted for, and more than half of it turned
back to the finanir officer.)

The afternoon wore on, but the special troop train from
the north which was to take the regiment to Iloilo failed to
appear. Embarkation orders specificd that the regliment sail
that night, and therc wes much concern about the missing train,
Drastio measures were in order,

Shortly before dusk a train arrived from Iloilo, northe
bound, with troop replaconents for ths Cupiz area. There being
no imnediate urgency about the time of their arrival, I ordored
the troops unloadsd and the engine roversed, The 6lst ¥ield
Artillery had its transportation for the troop movement to Ilo-
1lo. General Chynowsth's Chief of Staff, Colonel Albert F,
Christie, has never missed an opportunity to rib me about being
the only offioer who ever stole a train and got away with it,

While in the midst of supervising the detalls of entrain~
ing tho regiment and loading equipment, Colonel Christie came
up, and after oritically watching the loading oparatibna, sald
quistly, "General Chynoweth is at ir, ilarshall’s house and
would like to see you before you leave Santa B;rbara.”

"Hell, Christie," I retorted, "I've ot a sailing schedule
to make, and my offioers aro inexporienced in this sort of
troop movement."

"Your salling 18 pgoing to be delaysd™, Christie replied,
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%due to some difficulties encountered in preparing the vessel
for departure. The General is anxious to ses you."
"Doos General Chynoweth know", I usked, "what it mizht

mean if ----e--"

"listen, Tark, Christie quipped, "you have already stolen
a conmplete railtoad train and kidnapped ths crow. You don't
want to gdd disobedience to your crimes, do you? Gensral
Chynowotﬁ wants to see you and Lewis. If I were you, I'd con-
sider it an order. Turn over this movemont to the next senior
officer. You and Lewis can go to Ilo by motor and be thero
befors the trein arrives™.

I called lewis and told him what was up, and esked that
ho and Captailn Jacinto Gavino join me for additlional instruc-
tions regarding; this movemont to Ilollo. Gavino was compstent,
and ussured me that my instructions would be carried out to the
lotter. He saluted and dsourtod to tuks over cormend of the
troops.

Loewis and I deflatced our bosoms of the cached pesos, to
the care of two additional carefully selected officers, tapped
our helmets to a more rakish anple, and I said to Christie,
"L=ad on -- we followi"

In aout ten minutes ws arrivsd at the fine home of ire.
and krs. Marshall, which ovcrlooked tho beautiful Santa Bar-
bara Club golf courso. Prcsont also werc ir. and irse. Zalgros.
These werc charming poople and the ladics lovoiy and sraciouse.

Mr. Marahall said, "Colenel, General Chynoweth had been
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speaking of you and Major Lawris, snd has consented that we invite
you to our New Year's dinner this eveniny, so that et least you

may leave us with the resollection of what we believe will be a
good meal. We are deliphted that you have accepted our invitetion.®

I assured them that I wms most hapoy to be there snd felt
sure that the efforts of Iowis and myself would not cest any dis-
crodit on the cooke

1 turned then to General Chynoweth and said, "Colonel Christie
informs me that you want to see me."

"That's right, " he roplied. "ihon the opportunity presented
itself to offer you the haspitality of thésa eracious people prior
to your leaving my cormand, I couldn't resiste. Ycu know I hate to
lose my best outfit. Xow relax -- here cre the cocktsils. And
here's to a safe voyagel"

This was & real sond-off, and after an cxtrerely pleasant
hour and a half, and a bteautifully-appoirted real by candlelipnt,
Lewis and I departod to assumo our duties at the Guimeras dock.
We arrived there some twonty minutes anreed of the train.

As the train pulled slowvly out ontc tks auay, the wheols of
the locomotive suddenly lost traction and teran to spin, es if
on ice. Actually, the wheels were splnning in syrup, vhich had
flowed out onto the tracks from the still-burning sugar in the
warehouses on the dock, set afirc by recent Jap bombinge.

When the troops arrived st shipside, we found that further
delay in preparinz the ship for departure would be encountered,

because her last cargo of empty oil drums were still in the
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holds. There beinz no stevedores available, it was midnight be-

fore unloading by soldier labor was accomplished and the first. of

the troops could go aboard.

Fifteen hundred rounds of artillery ammunition, including
fuges, had been £he glbotross of the regiment since its arrival
on the igland. We still had no guns with which to fire this
stuff, but we oarted it with us just in case. This armunitlion
was to be moved to the ship by truck after dark. The emmnition
truoks arrived, but somehow the truck loaded with the fuzes failed
to show up. Yas this incident géing to further delay our getting
away? MNo one seemed to know anything about the truck. Was it
sabotage? The convoy commander could not sccount for losing one
of his truocks -- he apparently was most sincorecly alarmed at this
turn of events. He was dispatched in a light vehicle to find the
missing truck and bring it back. Ammnition without fuzes is of
slight value.

Just before midnight the truck ocolumn commander returned,
with the truck, and reported to me that he had found it wandering
down a little-used street in Iloilo. I had the tru&k driver and
his assistant brought to me.

“ghere in blue blazes have you been playing around!” I demanded.

®"But, Ser, we do not playi" protested the driver, breathlessly.
His assistant romained disoreetly silent. "We cannot have lighte.

I cannot see truok ahead. I cannot see road. I take wrong road.



"I look for docke T am lost. And then -- is Lieutonant Jimsnez,
and we come backl”

fiell, anyway, we had the fuzos.

Eefore the war, the Princess of Negros had been one of the

fleet of int-risland ships designed for moderate passenger and
freight trade, but certainly never intended to accomodate 1250

people, plus all the impod’itenta which even our meagrely-equipped

regiment possessed. Colonel !icLennan, the Navigation Head Officer,

and I, watoching the loading, beceme concerned as the little ship
settled lower and lower into the water, with much equipment still
to be put aboard. Consulting Captain Jaime, a skipper with many
years of experience in these waters bshind him, we were assured
that "if you ocan get 'en aboard, I can take 'em where they're
poing." e did, and he did, but if ever a ship was overloaded,
that one wasl! There was scarcely room to breath, and as we fin-
ally pushed off into the silvery path of a full tropical moon, I
touched the St. Christopher that 1 always wore attached to my
belt and whigpsred a fervent praysr that Captain Jaime knew his
business, and that neithor rough seas nor enemy patrols would
come our way this night.

It had been arranged that in the event of any enemy inter-
ference a sustained blast of the ship's whistle would sound the
alarm. We were well out into Guimaras Strait, where we might

expect to encounter Japansse patrol launchss at any tims, and I
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was on the bridge with the Captainm, scanning the sparkling water,
when suddenly the silence of the moonlit aight was ripped to
shivering shreds by the raucous screech of the whistled Its ear-
splitting ululations comntinued, while the Captain end I vainly
searched the skles énd scas for the snemy.

Then, over the wailingy of the whistle, came the staccato
bark of the two machine runs, which had becn placed in the bow
and stern of the ship for use against surface craft and low-flying
aircraft. I made my way as ragidly as possible along the crowded
decks, stumbling ovor prostrate humenity, to one of the gun posi-
tions. The gun crew was firing frenziedly at ---— nothingl They
had no target. They had seen nothing. But the whistle was supposed
to meacn onemiss, therefore they wore shootinzl And so two hundred
rounds of precious .50 culiber ammunition was lost to us forever.

Lewlis, meanwhile, had hustgned to the spot from which the
hideous shriek was still blasting. The whistle cord cams down
along the stack to the top deck, where, by means of a small pulley
it was diverted to the pilot house. ¥ndeavoring to contrive suf-
fiolent space to lie down comfortably for a nap on this crowded
deok, a Filipino soldier hud inexplicatly contrived to get one of
his feet ontangled in the vhistle cord, thereby creating a near
panic. No one jumped overboard, but it took some little time be-
fore complete gquiet and order were restored.

Fortunately, the rest of ths night passed without mishap, and
Captain Jaime lived up to his reputation by docking the Princssas

at Pulapandan, Negros, just before sunrise the next morninge.



Tho docks wore deserted. There wus no sizn of the transpor-
tation which was supposed to have been provided to move the regi-
ment to Dunaguete, where vic were to uwait the arrival of Genoral
Sharp's courier with further orders. The absence of the trucks
vas annoying, tut not surprising, since leck of coordination was
the rule, rother tﬁan the excuption, these cuyse Contact was
finally mads with the local trensportation officer, who explained
apologetically thet the Army had no motor vehicles on the Island.
For any troop movements it was necessary to requisition, from
local civilian sources, such trucks, tusses, or taxis as were
still in osrating condition, es well as drivers familiar with the
sometimes obscure routese.

Fortunately for the Army, civilians throughout the Islands
were at all times most cooﬁerativo. liowever, it would not be
possible to muster a sufficient number of vehicles to transport
over 1250 men at one time — thay would have to be noved in re-
lays -- and it was doubtful if the first section could be started
before nightfall.

Food for the regiment for the day, therefora, became the
{mmediate consideration. Since the food situatlon throughout
all the Southern Islands was oqually desperate, we had been in-
fonm;d that rutions for the regiment sufficient not only for the
trip but for the initial period in :iindanao, were to acccmpany
the troops. Colonsl Carter Re LcLennan had reoeived orders to

arrange transportation for the 61st Field Artillery and the 62nd
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Infantry from Iloilo Province to indanzo at about the same time.
The orders stipulated thst ten days! rationg would accompany the
troopse. It was e;timgted that the ships which would carry the
troops from Panay to Negros would not have sufficlent capacity for
both éhe troops and the emount of food ordered to be provided. And
further, the time required for the loading of these food supplies
would too greatly delay the sailinms, since the program called for
the completion of this roverent between dusk and dawn. Colonel
uiclennen, therefore, decided to ship the food by barge to Negros
on the day preceeding the first troop movement, which would assure
these supplies bsing readily available to the troops upon their
arrival in Pulapendan, and would accompany them the rest of the
wBYye

In accordance with this plaun, a barge wes loaded and dis-
patched, with a letter of lastructions to Captain Dick Jones,
Javication Head Officer in Pulapandan, ndvising him that the food
wes the property of the 61lst Field Artillery and the 62nd Infantry,
and what proportion wus %o be delivered to each rezimental supply
of ficer upon the arrival of the regiments. The barge arrived safely
and was unloaded acoording to schedula, but the supplies, instead of
being held as ordered for delivery to our fagiments, were stored in
Jonna ' bodazas. Upoﬁ our arrival in Pulapandan, lt. lapastora, the
regimental supply officcr, made inquiry of Jones and was informed
very definitely that no food for the regiment had been reccived from

any source. Intensive efforts on lapastora's part to. trace the ahip-



mont were fruitless, and my csm personal interview with Jones
brought only his positive statoment that Le had received no ship-
pent of food for the reginent had had heard nothing; of such a
consigment. 3ince t‘nero‘ wus no way of lnoying that the darge
had arrived, aud every likelihood tﬁat it had not, due to the
vigilanoe of the Japansse patrol boats, the statement wes accepted
at face vﬁiuo.

Some months later, ca 7 April, when Colonel Lolennan went
over to take command of liogros Island, somo of these food supplies
were still in Jones' boleruse : cLennan ca.nented on this fact and
Jones admitted quite fraunkly that it was the same stuff that had
been shipped to him for the use of the slst Fleld Artillery and the
62nd Infantry. He seemsl to think he has bosn extremely clsver in
building up his owm food stock by the sixple prooess of appropriat-
inp that which hud beern cousisasd to him for the use of these two
regiments, and told wclesiman with considzrable pride how he had
foxed these two outfits out of their ratioas. when loclennan strong~
1y disagreed with the ctiics of this traonsaction, Jones attempted to
alibl himself by saying th.t he ":33n%t ‘wow who the food was for®.
He admitted receiving ihe 1stter which s:tated that the supplies were
to ba delivored to the Jesionuted outfits, tut claimed thet since
neither of thom werc on his island, that Lz "thought it was & mis-
take" and therefore appropiiated the food. ilis alibl further al-
leged tﬁat there was rothiny ‘in the lstior to indicuie that those

regiments were bsing uoted to IOTTOS. This statement was trus,
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because any indication of troop movements had besn purposely
omitted from the lettur, for security reasons. But it would
appear obvious that when a shipment consigned to & specified
regiment was received, and th; designated regiment arrived,
requesting delivery of tho shipwent, less than 50 hours later,
that there ghould be extremely slight besis for misunderstanding.

' CQrtéinly, had I knovm that these food supplies had arrived
in Pulapandan, that part of thea destined for the Glst Field
Artillery would have accompanied the regiment!

'Noedless to say, thls unexpscted turn of events was another
monkey-wrench in the mechincry, necessitating consideruble soarch-
ing in order to purchuse adejunte supplies to subsist the regiment
until its arrivual in Dumu;uetee.

when this was finally acuonplisnaed, leuving Japtain Guvino
in command in Pulapandan, Lcwis and I procecded to Dumaguete in
a commandeored tuxi, to sce to facilitius at that ond, arriving
after a very rough trip uroun; three in the afternoon. For u
large part of the way the roud lay along the southern slopes of
the Kanloan Volcano, aoted for its steep grades, sharp curves,
sheer preocipices and desp cuayonse. Farts of the route were, the;
orstiocally, under constructione. Actually they wers tarsly passable
for motor vehicles, being sinilar to American country roads at the
beginning of the horse-and-buggy ¢ra, and ths heevy troop movements
of the past few months had not improved thom.

In Dumaguete we found that no prepuraution had beean nmelu for
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billeting or supplylng food to the troops during our indefinite
stay thers, which necessitated considerable high-pressure work on
Lewis' and my part. We slopt that night (after midnight) for the
first time since 30 Decenber.

Shortly after daybroak the next morning, 3 January, the first
elements of oﬁr nondescript convoy were seen appr;aching along the
ghore road. They had been delayed, as usual, by breakdowns due to
meohaniocal failures and shortugos of fuel, which had prevented
their reaching their destination before daylight, as planned.

Just as the last truck of the long column amergod from the -
jungle, which ran almost to the sea at this point, the ominous
thunder we had been listening for, but hoping against, began to
vibrate. The unmistakable, desynchronized throb of Japenese air-
plane motors.

From the little eminence vhere Lowis and I stood, watching
through our glasses, the convoy looked like a huge, dark, slowly-
writhing snake against the white road. The surf rolled alnoat to
the road's edgo on the eust, thle a level, treeless plain stretched
away to the west, presenting no cover of any sorte

The leading V of the bombers was almost over the column now,
and I Leld my broath uncongciously, waiting for the first bombs to
drop. Thouzhts flashed throurh my mind -- of tho woexs of arduous
training these youngsters had gone through, of thelr eagerness to
learn, and to avengo the raepe of luzon -= and now, for many of

thom, certainly, it was to end like this!



And then as we watohed in impotent anxiety, the bombers
passed over the convoy, turnsd slightly out to sea, and were
lost in the distance.

Not a single bomd hadi fallenl

To this day, I cannot imagine how the regiment escaped
destruotion, but as lewis and I stood that morning, weak with
relief, I know both of us were imwardly giving thanks to what-

ever Guardian Anzels werec responsible.
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CHAPTER V

Battalion billeting area had been selected and as the convoy
straggled in the battalion commanders were ecquainted with the
boundaries of their sreas, the location of the Regimental Command
Post, the Regimental First Aid Station, and the supply dump for
Class 1 ;upplies (see Appendix No. II); this last usually being
the first question asked by subordinate commanders.

Other supply dumps had lost importance because we had long
since become scoustomed to the phrase "Not Available™. Clothing
issues had ceased before the completion of mobilization. All
available rifle, pistol and machine gun ammnition was cerried on
the porson, or in a meagre regimental or battalion reserve. I1lu-
minants and fuel for cooking were catcoh-as-catch-can, and automo-
tive fuels and lubricants were now of no caoncern since the limited
regimental transportation that had at one time been available to
us had to be left on Paney due to lack of shipping.

Thore was plenty to do besides sit and wait for the imstruo-
tions which would indicate our eventual destination. 4 series of
innooulations, which had been initiated a week before at Cabatuan,
sgaingt typhoid, cholera and tetanus was to be ocompleted, and the
due date fell during our stay in Dumaguette. This ocoupied the
doctors beyond their normal duties of sanitation inspeotions and
conduct of siock-call. Equipment had to be checked constantly for

serviceability and readiness. This period also was & breather to
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pgatoh up on and ocorrect infractions of discipline, and above all,
to carry on training in tactics and hand-to-hand combat.

The problem of inoulcating the fighting spirit into the doc~-
{le but excitable Filipino is one to which time alons, perhaps,
holds the answer. Assiduous offorts were made to encourage the
untrained Filipino officer to assume the responsibilities due his
subordinates and his position, and to instill in him by repetition,
explanation, and demonstration, the qualities desired in a leader)
but again, time was a second enemy.

This is no place for a discussion of the psychology of leader-
ship, except that, in justice to the Filipino, one point should be
remembered. For nearly four hundred years they were a subject
people. Crushed under the Spanish heél from 1665 until 1898, when
the Islands were ceded to the United States, these people were
without opportunity to develop the initiative, roaouroofnlno:o and
pertinacity essential to successful commanders. It cannot be ox-
peoted that qualities which have been determinedly luppro;aed by a
oonqueror for generation upon generation can suddenly be brought
to flower .gnin overnight.

In the pest thirty years great strides have been made in edu-
oating and instructing the young Filipino in his responsibilities
of citizenship. The Philippine Socouts, the only prewar native mili-
tary orgenisation in the Islands with any considerable progressive
training, furnishes an epic sxample in the development of outstand-

ing soldiers and leaders. It hes been said that the guerrilla
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operations of the later war years developed many more. But the
untreined, or partly-trained soldier of 1941-42 as I knew hinm,

was definitely non-aggressive in character, and lacking in the

American conoept of responsibility.

Yet, I shall glwaya cherish the memory of many of my of-
fioors and rmen, who, because of their integrity, loyalty and
devotion to duty so admirably met and overcame discouragement
end inspired their brothers to greater performance. I count
among, my very best friends those of my regiment who never shirked
a duty or failed in an obligation. I predict the Philippine De-

mooracy will develop many great leaders.

On the evening of § January 1942, Captain Floyd Forte called
on me in my room at the Dumaguette Hotel. He very oarefully iden-
tified himgelf as a member of General Sharp's staff and stated
that he had information of top secret charaoter to divulge to me.

At his insistence we minutely inspected the premises to make
sure there were no spying eavesdroppers and after satisfying our-
selves that we were entirely alone, he began to talk in a low
voloe.

*You know, Colonel, I am not the special messenger from Gen-
eral Sharp. But that messenger, acoording to plan, was to contact
you today. You say you have received no instructions from General
Sharp sinoe your arrival here. Frankly, Colonel, I'm worried for

fear sanething may have gone wrong. A little foul play at this
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stage could gum up a lot of important troop movements”.

I let him talk. I knew we were headed for Mindanao, but when
and where we were to land was still a staff secret.

"To be reasonably sure there is no hitch in the movement of
your regiment aoccording to plan", Forte continued, "I am golng to
2ake mown to you the detsils as to your date of departure, the
-hipa which are to transport you, end your destination®.

This ixe proceeded to do, in some detail. He assured me that
two vessels would be at the [umaguette cock on the morning of the
7th. That my destination was Bugos that I would be attached to
General Vachon's command at Malaybalay, and would join him by
marching, upon my arrivel at Bugo. Ee repeatedly warned me that
this was secret; that I would uncer no circumstances divulge this
{nformation to anyone. Kot even the ship's skippers were to know
their destination until we were well out to sea; that we would
travel blackout and under radioc silence.

1 vas resdy and 1 understood. I understood also that in or-
der to ocomply with that part of the seorecy portaining to the des-
tination, in view of racio silence somcone on the ship on whioh I
was not a passenger must know where we were to land. That detail
was handled without recourse to discussion with this self-appointed
mogsengere 4

Forte left. I have never seen him since. Ilis subsequent
activities are regerved for a later episode.

Tie following day, about 2000 hours, Ceptain Bucher found ne
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at the hotel. He introduced himself as the emi;aary of General
Sha.rp and stated that he had a messags for me. de, too, was con-
cerned with the secrocy of the interview and again we went through
the businsss of looking under beds and in closets. Captain Bucher
presented his orodentials and identified himself as being, in fact,
the person reproéentod. He handed me a sealed envelope, within
which was. a second sealed envelope marked "SECRET" in red ink. The
enclosed letter of instructions was marked likewise top and bottam.
The letter contained easentbially the sane information imparted by
Ceptain Fortse, to vhich Bucher added the oral caution that no cne
was to know the destination of the regiment until after we hed put
to sea. There was no discussion. None was needed. I had been
twice briefed.

On the morning of the seventh, I called all my officers to-
gother and acquainted them with the fact that the regiment would
embark at sunset, and that precautions would be redoubled to see
that none 61‘ our soldiers became "evacuees”". Plans were .porfooted
a8 to space assignments on the vessels and the order of embarking,
and all necessary instructions issued.

The ships Lepus and Dumaguette were tied up to the dock. I

had taken the battalion commanders over the ships to acquaint them
with the layout. Now it was a matter for the individual subordi-
nate comuanders to make their own arrangements and igsue their in-
structions.

This business was gane about without revealing to the curiocus
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civilians the fect that the regiment was leaving. There were no
idle moments, so the interval of waiting for evening was not
burdensome.

As the sun dropped down behind Cuernos de liegros mountain snd
the quiok tropic darkness fell, the troops were moved in small de-
tachments to the pier and embarked as rapidly and as quietly as
possible.

"The best laid plans of mice and men ---===< $" 1In spite of
careful briefing of subordinate commancers; in spite of posting
selected guides at critical road and trail junctions; in spite of
the extra vigilance of my staff, some of the detachments succeeded
in taking the wrong route during the move in the darkmess from
bivouao aree to ship-side. This necessitated an energetio search
for the missing elements, ocoasioned a great deal of ennoyance and
éonoern, and delayed getting under way for almost an hour. Finally,
we had all aboard an¢ slipped out into the Lindanao Sea.

About thirty minutes out I gave Ceptain Medina his destinatlom.
In the dim light of his well-shuttered cabin, I saw a knowing grin
spread over his face. 1 have always believed that he lmsw our des-
tination before I did. Whether he knew or not -- his coursec was
already laid straight for Bugoc and changed not ore degree.

It wes & beautiful, star-studded night. The Southern Cross
nestled low on the horizon to the south, and Cereus, the Cog-Star,
more brillient than I hacd ever before observed it, lay off the

port bow. fhe geas were calm. It was difficult, indeed, to feol
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that war had entered the peace and tranquility of this beautiful
aref. |

The ocoasional distant lights of the fishermen sent rucddy
gleans across the water. Some uneasiness was felt, at first,
that these might be enemy craft, but celm reflection would assume
that the Jap traveled blackout, too.

The dark mass of Siquijor Island loomed and slowly fell astern
on our port side, as Lewis cane on deck to take over the watch,
Viith confidence in the alerﬁneas of the lookouts, the experience
and loyalty of the skipper and reposing cormplete faith in Lewis, I
dropped off to sleep for the first time in 48 hours.

“hen the skipper rousad me a few hours later, the brilliance
of the stars had faded slightly in the gray of approaching daybreak.
The comuand was slerted to prepare for debarkation. A cup of steam-
ing black coffee that the skipper had oontrived did wonders to chase
away tho laest vestiges of drowslnoss.

¥indanao lay dark and forbidding, dead ahead. In tﬁe pale
1ight of dawn, the precipitous slopes that rose up from the nar-
row ooastal strip that is Eianniu Criental, to the Eukidnon platesu,
cams out in clearer detail, and the January elghth sun, peeking over
_the eastern rim of the Mindanso Sea, found the little Dumaguette
tied up to the Bugo dock. The Lepus was visible on the horizom to
the north, an hour's sailing distant. The multitudinous details
of disembarking troops and moving them into covered areas, and of

unloading equipment, was placed in the competent hands of Buok Lewis.
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A telephone was located in the Philippine Packing Company's pine-
apple camery nearby, and contact was finally made with General
Vachon &t Malaybalay. This single-wire, ground-return, long-
_distance medium was filled, even at this ungodly hour, with
screaming, screeching demons, all speaking different languages.

It seemed to me that if General Vachon were able to screen my
neasage out of this babble, that he was a real Houdini. That he
actually did undorstnnﬁ that th_o Sixty-first had arrived, and was
ebout to sot out by marching and use of "all available motor iruu-
portation" (non-exiatent). I wag never sure until I met the General,
much lster.

The ordeal of this overland movement in the hot, tropical sum
was spared us by the arrival of Lt. Col. (then Msjor) John He Mo-
Ceo, an emissary of Colonel lorse. Who Colonel librae was wo had
not tho vagusst idea, but a change of ordera, emanating from Gen-
eral Sharp's Headquarters, and of which General Vachon was appar-
ontly in ignorance, had set in motion a long sequence of changes
of sectors and troop dispositions.

Tie were conducted by McGee to a dense and shady occonut grove
extending up from the beaches of Macajalar Bay in the vicinity of
e defunct barrio (whose name escapes me) und instructed to dig in
as protection against Jap air nuisance, uncil further inatructions
fron Colonel Morse, to whose command, McGee informed us, we were
now to be attached.

On New Years' Lay the trim but cdamaged S. S. Mayon had limped

(Map # 1)
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. into Cagayan with a cargo of 670 Ameriocan Adr Corps officers end
) men wader command, for the curatlon of the voyage, of Colonel
%illiam F. Yorse and Liocutenant Colonel Wade L. Eillen. This
} contingent had been cauzht off ¥indoro by Jap air and given a vap 3 1)
thorough going over. Thile a direct hit was scored on the after - ﬁ
part of thonvessel, most of the casualties were sustalned among
those who had jumped overboard, and resulted from the orusking
effccl of water pressure generated by near-nisaes exploding in
the goa.
In spite of the panic created bty this attack, the dead were
taXen fron the water and tne injured siven such medical attentiom
‘ as coull be provided. All personnel were then debarked and put
ashore until carkness provided a blanket of protection for further
travel, Order and discipline were quickly restored through the
exanple of cool, calm leadership displayed by lorse and Killen.
Upon arrival st Cspayan ‘his contingent, less 200-0dd sent

south to Generel Vachon, constituted the first unit to garrison

tne newly-created Cagayan Sector. Major NcGee was designated
comuanding officer of this provisional battalion which was assigned
an area near Del i'onte.

On 4 January, Colonel Morse was ordered by General Sharp to
assume cormand of the Cagayan Sector and Xillen boocame his Chief
of Staff. With this assignment Morae was dosignated military

governor of !/isamie Oriontal and Buld dnon Provinces. At this time
(Maps # 1,
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Cagayan were the only troops available to the newly-appointed seo-
%or commander. Colonel Yorse, in ennouncing his eppointment, re-
rerred to this command as the "Cupayen Brigade”. The designation
stuck until it was later expunded into e ¢ivision.

Cn January.sixth the 8lst Field Artillery, commanded bty my
vty {ood friend Lieutenant Colonel John I, Woodbridge, came in
from Bohol'and was essipned positions in the vicinity of Tegaloan.
:fe had already moved into these positions when the 6lst Field
Artillery docked on the 8th.*

The Cagayan seclor extended from the Tagaloan River on the
oast to the Cagayan River on the viest. The Brigade now had two
regiménts (about 1080 men euch) in the front line covering a mere
23 kilometers of water front -- approxirately 15 miles -- whioh
would have texed the capabilities of a Corps.

{hen Colonel Xorse visited the bivouac area of tge €1st Field
Artillery et about 1000 hours on the day of its arrival he seomed
well pleased with the industry displayed in digging foxholes with
mess kits end bayonets. Entrenching tools were in extremely short
supply and larger shovels and mattocks, if avalladle, had not found
their way throughAsupply channals to us. Dut the encouragconent of
freguent inquisitive flights of Jap fichter planes proved a power-
ful inceﬁtivc to speed up excavations!

Yorse and 1 started out to reconnoitre suitable positions in
the vicinity of Cagayen, selocted positions covering accoss roads

1o the town, and the mouth of %the Cazayan River. As a result of

s3oth regiments were without artillery pieces and
operating as Infantry.
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this reconnaissance the responsivility for the shore line fram
tho Tagaloan liver to the lapayan Ziver was divided roughly in
half. The boundary petween the 3lsi iield artillery and the
61lst ricld artillery followed gunerully tie Little 4gusen Xtiver.

U was numerically impossible to occupy ticse defensive positions
and to:nainfain convact with the 8lst Field Artvillery except by
gatrolse 1In uddition, periodic ciecks on Leucies to the wast,
xnown bo be well adapted to lunding operulicas, nud Lo be accam~
plisied by saall patrols. woodbrid;e and I carried on further
detailud study of the terrain wilh a view Lo establishinyg forti-
fied cenlers of resistance covering most favorable lending spots.
Charecteristics of this cefensive area, coupled with our nuegre
force and lack of heavy wcapons, irposoud drastic restrictions om
even upproaching the idecl of making these cenlers mutually aup-
portinge L plen was adopted, which satisfied neither of us, but
was the best thumt could be Cone in the face of the overwhelming
unfavorable circumstances. isriodic patrols were instituted as
a physical link between re i-ents, ard look-out posts established
on the cliffs which rose to Bukidnon. These served excellently to
keep the entire area of .lacejalar Bay uncder surveillance. These
lockouts could detect spproucaing aircraft as well as surface
vessels on tie bay. Improvised bawboo gongs would sound th; tocsin.
tie were still comparatively blinc to the south, but iu spite of our
concern for a possible vertical (paratroop) attack on our rear,

which would put us in an extremely precarious position, our energles



were directed more toward opposing a landing on tha beaches.

As far es we knew these sectors were to rerain as cstab-
1lished. The estimatad ~an hcurs to srepare thuse positions was
a atog-erin- figure. Bub we gst to =-- and Tade soxe pProgresse
But ron can accomolish only sc much -- s=c without tools end
neteriel, wTuch less. The situation wis & desided cnallenge to
inzenuity. Frustratican stalked us day a=d night, but rarely
a1d onc koear a note of gessimism. Jesry bruine 2ad fag ed
muscles always responcad for one more effort. iloze of assist-
ance Surned brightly in all our thinking. Ve KYoXN that no
matter how black or hooeless condltions scemed today, LCTOrrow
would ses the miracle of weapons, arrunition, focd end the es-
sentiels with which to fustify cur fanatic »ellef in the infelli-

bility of the Upited States.

Corsolidation of dafensive positions in the lacajalar Bay
arca, enbracing abnormally wide froata :s, wecesaitated a ocon-
tinuing study of terrain. The troelcss plains of Bukidnon drop
off prssipitously to a very narrow coastal strip of dense cocomut
groves. Thus, & doploymani in depth consonant with sound defonsive
tactics was virtually impossible. Laferul movenant was alﬂosﬁ en-
tirely restricted to the narrow coastal strij. iccess to the tree-
less plains could be found in only tﬁo or threo places where pre-
carious foot-trails clunz to the escarpnent; or by followin; the

goroentine Sayro Highway from Tinao barric upward; or through the
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deep, sheer-walled river canyons, which cut the area generally

from south to north, until access could be had to the plains by
means of hagardous foot-trails. Lateral movement across the
Bukidnon platesu was out of ths question because of these deep
canyons, which not oﬁly seriously jeopardized mutual support

between units, but limited communication to visual means or

'extremely difficult and time~concuming courier service.

Initially, with our shallow deployment over wides frontages,
thery were sufficient field telsphones and field wire to tie in
ths threes battalion headqnarteré with regiment, and regimsnt with
division. But in spite of extreme care in the use of telephones
and constant attempts to revitalize worn out batteriss or pro-
cure spares, this means of communication beceme unreliable and
failed altogether with the invasion.

Shortly after the sectors for the 8lat and 81st Field Ar-
tillary Regiments had been prescribed the First Battalion 10lst
Infantry under command of Ma jor Reed Graves, CAC, took over a
slice of frontege from Tinao Canyon west to the Little Agusen
River, narrowing the sector of the 8lst Fleld Artillery. Approx-
imately a wesk later Major Graves'® battalion was pulled ouf»and
sent south and the 3rd Regiment Philippine Constabulary Infantry
was atteched to ths brigads, necsssitating a further read justment
of sectors. About 15 February the 103rd Infantry, less its second
battalion, errived in Cageyan relieving the Philippine Constabulary
Regiment. This Constabulery Regiment being then attached to

Chastaine’s Surizao sector took over the responsibilities of the
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93rd Philippine Army Regiment on 20 February in the Anakan-Gingoog .
area.

¥ajor Joseph R. Webb assumed cormand of the 103rd after a suc-
cession of commanders, none of whom.rcmaiﬂcd with the regiment for
more than a few days. During-the first week of Merch Webb's second
battalion, under Major Robert V. Bowler and Lisutenant William Mo-
Laughlin, roj?ined the regiment from the Cotabato-Digos front. (See
Appendix No. 3 ).

This shifting of sectors, while providing bstter overall troop
dispositions, resulted in having to do over again the work ihich
had been accomplished §r was under way toward establighment of de-
fensive measures. While this, from a training standpoint, was ad-
mirable, the threat of invasion was constant and timo, like our
‘other commbditios, was at a premium.

We were assured now that our positions, barring unforeseen
emergencies, would remain unchanged and that the proteotion of
Del Monte Airfield, by defending the beaah;s of Mamcajalar Bay,
would continue as our mission. With this mission, and the in-
fluences exerted on it by the naturs of the terrain and the exten-
sive frontage to be covered, coupled with a complete lack of sup-
porting weapons, battalions were disposed sbreast. In the F;old
Artillery regiments this left no regimental réservo except the
Headquarters Battery, which furnisho@ the communications details,
including runners, and personnel for the staff sestions of the
Headquarters. Similarly, reserves wtrvooustitutad for the bgtf

talions, from all availabls sources. These reserves rarely, if



sver, exceoded thirty effectives. Division had no reserves with
which to bolster this "thin 'brom' line". Good defensive tacties
denand depth. Weither men nor tools were available, but the thia
line was sstablished with forebodings and misgiving.

Work in establishing our defensive positions was ?peaded upe.
tntengive search was ingtituted for materials with which to con-
struct omplecements for the few machine guns which had been
i1ssued or salvaged from wrecked airplanes. We managed to turm up
e few sacks cf cement, a few sof;'tions of a water standpipe which
had not teen erected, and & few dilspicdated grain sacks for con=-
version to sand bags. These sections of iron standpipe served
besutifully as the revetment of en excavation for .SOrcaIibre
machine run emplacements and the cement furnished s dry floor for
the runners who otherwise, due to a hich water table at flood
ttde, would have stood in water above their knees.

Turing this time persistert efforts were being made to get
autherity to send a detsil to Panay to recover our motor vehicles
which we had been compelled to leave behind at the time of our de~
parture due to lack of space on our trensport.

Since our arrival in Mindanao the eupply situation had beem
decidedly imperfect. The system of ratio? issties as implemanﬁo&
within the policies of the Force Commandef wes something less thea
e system. Very 1ittls food supply found ita wey from the Force
Supply Depots to the front line troops. Ihis necossitated contin-

uoue orgenized efforte on the part of these troope to subsist




themselves from local resources, and forced comeandsrs into time-
consuming and unorthodox grocedurss. CSome supplieé procured by
the front line troops found their way to rear areas to supi:le-
nent the rations of' other units. Frequently beach traps operated
by a regimental detail of soldlers furnished fresh fish to less
fortunate organizations. The military concept of the impetus eof
supply being from rear to front had undergone such drastic changes
as to reverse the entire procedure. Supply conditions remained
pretty mch in this chaotic state mtil - the arrival of Qo,lqngl_,_,h ,
¥alville Creusere who took over the duties of Yorce Quartermaster
end brovght edout an orderly system of issues.

Fust about the tire the situstion became critical one of the
inter-island vessels put into Bugzo and unloaded some sixteen
sedans of various vintages and states of repair, all requisitioned,
apparently, from civilian sources, zince' none ware dreued in the
characteristic olive-drab of the Army. Fo receiving officer was
present. ¥o shipping document or other evidence of consignment
could be found. They were simply unloaded and parked near the
beach under the coconut palms.

Our urgent need for some means to cover the distances in-
volved in food procurement efforts, in the maintenance of reces-
sary reconnaissance and steff conferesnces exhaneed the valus of
these cars in our eyss. And perhaps the memory of the theft of
a railroad train made the appropriation of a fow antomobiles seem

a bit irsignificant, At any rate, the result was that six of these



sedans —- the best of the lot -- soon reposed in the area of the
£lst Field Artillery.

e furore that arose over this "salvege operation”, led,

I am sure, to the final decision of Force Eeadquerters to arrange
for my supply cfficer, motor serjeant aad three mechanics’ to re-
tarn to Fanay to recover our motor vehicles, anc off they went on
"ed" Ploughmen's auxiliary-motored sailing vessel. Cn 25 January
I received from Lieutenant Lapastora, my supply officer, a ccamer-
cial racdiogram advising wme, in his characteristic phraseology,
that he would return with not only our motors,vbut the detachment
of men who had bean too involved with "Baus Au" in the mountain
fastnesses to sail with us.

On the morning of the 27th, Lieuteonsnt Lapastora, unennounced,
presenfed himself before me, ie had the vehicles, He had the
"fountain 3oys®, But best ol all, perhaps, he had brought back teo
us Jack Adams, Bill Rallling, Schraiber and the crew who had been
attaohed to us at Cabatuan and were left behind due to delay in

the olarification of their status,

During this time the comstruction of CPY, General Sharp's (iap #4)
Command Post, was under way. Initially the heavy detonations
heard in the Macajalar area wore associated with the frequent
viaits of Jap bombers, but proved upon inquiry to be ﬁpe blast-
ing out of a desp, wide trench, which was later timberdd over

and covered to a considerable depth with iqrth. owr\:ﬁbis soar
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‘pineapple was planted in neat rows to dlend with the surrounding
area. Thus camouflagodiand presumably protected, the Force staff

could ride out the Jap air attempts to locate the Commander.
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